THE EFFECT OF MONEY SUPPLY ON FINANCIAL RATIOS AND STOCK RETURN IN MALAYSIA

BORHAN SAYEDY

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Azman Hashim International Business School Universiti Teknologi Malaysia

SEPTEMBER 2018

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my parents Abdollah and Keshvar who provided unconditional love and taught me how to soar on eagle's wings, my lovely wife Dana for her unconditional love, endless support and patience, and to my siblings Bahman, Khavar, Nasrin, Loghman and the rest of my family and friends Kiarash and Reza for their support and encouragement.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to respectfully thank my supervisor, Tan Sri Prof. Dr. Mohd Zulkifli bin Tan Sri Mohd Ghazali, whose assistance, guidance and most of all his supervision was the keys to successfully complete this thesis. I would also like to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Zarina Abdul Salam for her support, assistance and patience.

I am very thankful to my parents, my lovely wife and my siblings for their continuous support, encouragement, and endless patience. Thank you very much for making my life so fulfilled.

ABSTRACT

This thesis examines the effect of two macroeconomic variables as moderators on the relationship between three financial ratios and stock return in the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE). The macroeconomic variables in this study are interest rate (INT) and money supply (MS) and the financial ratios are debt-to-equity ratio (DE), dividend per share (DPS) and quick ratio (QR). Firm size and book-to-market value are considered as controlling variables and further analyses have been done to avoid methodological problems. This study examines the impact of the selected financial ratios on stock return and investigates the moderating effect of INT and MS on the relationship between the financial ratios and stock return. The data was obtained from 300 companies that were listed in KLSE from year 2003 to 2012. Least square regression with robust standard errors, generalized least squares regression (GLS) and fixed effect regression were used to analyse the data in order to control for nonnormality and heteroscedasticity. The findings suggest that an increase in value of a firm's debt relative to its equity would cause a decrease in the firm's stock return in the following year. The results also indicate that firms with higher QR and DPS are likely to have a higher stock return in the subsequent year. Moreover, the findings show a negative relationship between INT and stock return, but there is no evidence that shows significant impact for MS on stock return. The findings of this study further show that INT moderates the relationship between DE and stock return but suggest no evidence of moderating the relationships between QR, DPS and stock return. However, based on the findings, MS moderates the relationships between DE, QR and stock return, but does not moderate the effect of DPS on stock return. Nevertheless, both INT and MS -the selected macroeconomic variables- have a moderating effect on the relationship between all selected predictors and stock return. The findings of this study would be of interest to domestic and international investors, stockbrokers, board of directors, financial managers and policy makers.

ABSTRAK

Tesis ini mengkaji kesan dua pembolehubah makroekonomi sebagai perantara hubungan antara tiga nisbah kewangan dan pulangan saham dalam Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE). Pembolehubah-pembolehubah dalam kajian ini adalah kadar bunga (INT) dan bekalan wang (MS) manakala kewangan meliputi nisbah hutang_kepada_ekuiti (DE), dividen sesaham (DPS) dan nisbah segera (QR). Saiz firma dan nilai tempahan ke pasaran dianggap sebagai pembolehubah yang dikawal. Kajian ini menganalisis kesan nisbah kewangan terpilih kepada pulangan saham dan kesan perantaraan INT dan MS terhadap nisbah kewangan dan pulangan saham. Data diperolehi daripada 300 syarikat yang tersenarai di KLSE dari tahun 2003 hingga tahun 2012. Kaedah kuasa dua regresi dengan ralat standard yang teguh, kuasa dua regresi menyeluruh (GLS) dan kesan regresi yang dibetulkan telah digunakan untuk menganalisis data untuk mengawal ketidaknormalan dan heteroskedastisiti. Dapatan mencadangkan bahawa pertambahan untuk nilai hutang firma yang relatif kepada ekuitinya akan menyebabkan pengurangan dalam pulangan saham firma untuk tahun berikutnya. Dapatan ini juga menunjukkan firma-firma yang mempunyai QR dan DPS yang lebih tinggi berkemungkinan besar akan mempunyai pulangan saham yang lebih baik untuk tahun yang seterusnya. Selain itu, dapatan kajian juga menunjukkan hubungan yang negatif diantara INT dan pulangan saham, tetapi tiada sebarang bukti yang menunjukkan impak yang penting kepada MS pada pulangan saham. Hasil kajian ini seterusnya menunjukkan bahawa INT mempunyai hubungan di antara DE dan pulangan saham, tetapi mencadangkan tiada bukti QR sebagai perantara antara DPS dan pulangan saham. Walau bagaimanapun, berdasarkan dapatan tersebut, MS adalah pengantara antara DE, QR dan pulangan saham. Tetapi MS bukan pengantara DPS pulangan saham. Namun demikian, kedua-dua INT dan MS merupakan pembolehubah makroekonomi terpilih yang mempunyai kesan pengantara dengan pembolehubah yang mengukur jangkaan dan pulangan saham. Dapatan kajian ini adalah bermanfaat untuk pelabur dalam negara dan antarabangsa, broker saham, lembaga pengarah, pengurus kewangan dan pembuat polisi.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTEI	R TITLE	PAGE
	DECLARATION	ii
	DEDICATION	iii
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iv
	ABSTRACT	v
DECLARATION DEDICATION ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	vi	
	TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
	LIST OF TABLES	xii
	LIST OF FIGURES	XV
	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
1	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 An Overview of the Malaysian Economy and Stock Market	1
	1.2 Background of Study	7
	1.3 Problem Statement	10
	1.3.1 The Impact of Financial Ratios on the Stock Return in	
	Malaysia	12
	1.3.2 The Moderating Impact of Macroeconomic Variables	
	on the Relationship between Financial Ratios and	
	Stock Return in Malaysia	14

	1.4 Purpose of the Study	15
	1.5 Research Questions of the Study	16
	1.6 Objectives of the Study	16
	1.7 Scope of the Study	17
	1.8 Significance of Study	18
	1.9 Method of Study	20
	1.10 Outline of the Study	21
	1.11 Definitions of Terms	22
	1.11.1 Debt-to-Equity Ratio (DE)	23
	1.11.2 Dividend per Share (DPS)	23
	1.11.3 Quick Ratio (QR)	23
	1.11.4 Total Assets (TA)	24
	1.11.5 Book-to-Market Ratio (BM)	24
	1.11.6 Interest Rate (INT)	24
	1.11.7 Money Supply (MS)	25
	1.11.8 Stock Return (SR)	25
	1.12 Summary	25
2	LITERATURE REVIEW	26
	2.1 Introduction	26
	2.2 Stock Return	26
	2.3 Financial Ratios and Stock Return	28
	2.3.1 DE (Debt to Equity Ratio)	30
	2.3.2 DPS (Dividend Per Share)	35
	2.3.3 QR (Quick Ratio)	39
	2.3.3 QR (Quick Ratio)2.3.4 TA (Total Assets)	39 41
	2.3.4 TA (Total Assets)	41
	2.3.4 TA (Total Assets)2.3.5 BM (Book-to-Market Value)	41 42
	2.3.4 TA (Total Assets)2.3.5 BM (Book-to-Market Value)2.4 Macroeconomic Variables and Stock Return	41 42 45
	 2.3.4 TA (Total Assets) 2.3.5 BM (Book-to-Market Value) 2.4 Macroeconomic Variables and Stock Return 2.4.1 Macroeconomic Variables 	41 42 45
	 2.3.4 TA (Total Assets) 2.3.5 BM (Book-to-Market Value) 2.4 Macroeconomic Variables and Stock Return 2.4.1 Macroeconomic Variables 2.4.2 Macroeconomic Variables and Stock Return in 	41 42 45 45

		2.4.4 Macroeconomic Variables and Stock Return in the	
		Context of Malaysia	58
		2.4.5 Interest Rate	61
		2.4.5.1 Inflation	65
		2.4.6 Money Supply	67
	2.5	Theories Related to the Study	70
		2.5.1 Random Walk Theory	70
		2.5.2 Signalling Theory	71
		2.5.3 Modigliani-Miller Theorem (M&M)	73
		2.5.4 Pecking-Order Theory	74
		2.5.5 Bird-in-Hand Theory	76
		2.5.6 Liquidity preference theory	76
		2.5.7 Staple Thesis	78
	2.6	Conceptual Framework and Hypotheses Development	79
		2.6.1 Framework I: Impact of Financial Ratios on Stock	
		Return	80
		2.6.2 Framework II: Impact of Interest Rate as a Moderator	
		on the Relationship between Financial Ratios and	
		Stock Return	81
		2.6.3 Framework III: Effect of Money Supply as a	
		Moderator on the Relationship between Financial	
		Ratios and Stock Return	82
	2.7	Summary	83
2	DE:	SEARCH METHODOLOGY	84
3		Introduction	84
		Research Process	84
		Methodology	86
	3.3	3.3.1 Research Method	86
		3.3.2 Research Approach	87
		3.3.3 Sample Firms and Period of Study	89
		3.3.4 Data Collection	90
		J.J.T Data Concention	90

	3.4	Conceptual Framework and Hypotheses	90
	3.5	Variables of the Study and Measurement	92
		3.5.1 Independent Variables	93
		3.5.1.1 Debt to Equity (D/E)	93
		3.5.1.2 Dividend per Share (DPS)	94
		3.5.1.3 Quick Ratio (QR)	94
		3.5.2 Dependent Variable	95
		3.5.3 Moderating Variables	96
		3.5.3.1 Money Supply	96
		3.5.3.2 Interest Rate	97
		3.5.4 Control Variables	98
		3.5.4.1 Total Assets	98
		3.5.4.2 Book to Market Ratio	99
	3.6	Data Analysis	99
		3.6.1 Descriptive Statistics	100
		3.6.2 Correlation Analysis	101
		3.6.3 Regression Analysis	102
		3.6.3.1 Multiple Regressions Analysis	102
		3.6.3.2 Moderated Multiple Regressions Analysis	104
		3.6.3.3 Further Analysis and Robustness Test	110
		3.6.4 Assumptions for Multiple Regression	111
4	FIN	NDINGS AND DISCUSSIONS	114
	4.1	Introduction	114
	4.2	Descriptive Statistics	114
	4.3	Correlation Matrix	116
	4.4	Analysis I: Impact of Financial Ratios on Stock Return	118
		4.4.1 GLS and Fixed Effect Analyses	121
	4.5	Analysis II: Impact of Interest Rate as a Moderating Variable	
		on the Relationship between Financial Ratios and Stock	
		Return	124
		4.5.1 GLS and Fixed Effect Analyses	132

174

	4.6	Analysis III: Impact of Money Supply as a Moderating	
		Variable on the Relationship between Financial Ratios and	
		Stock Return	139
		4.6.1 GLS and Fixed Effect Analyses	149
	4.7	Summary	156
_			
5		NCLUSION AND THESIS CONTRIBUTION	158
	5.1	Introduction	158
	5.2	Overview of the Study	158
	5.3	Summary of Findings	159
	5.4	Discussion of the Findings	160
		5.4.1 The Effect of Financial Ratios on Stock Return	161
		5.4.1.1 The Effect of Debt-to-Equity Ratio on Stock	
		Return	162
		5.4.1.2 The Effect of Dividend per Share on Stock	
		Return	163
		5.4.1.3 The Effect of Quick Ratio on Stock Return	164
		5.4.2 The Moderating Effect of Interest Rate on the	
		Relationship between Financial Ratios and Stock	
		Return	165
		5.4.3 The Moderating Effect of Money Supply on the	
		Relationship between Financial Ratios and Stock	
		Return	167
	5.5	Theoretical Contribution	169
	5.6	Practical Contribution	170
	5.7	Limitation of Study	171
	5.8	Recommendation for Future Studies	172

REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE NO	TITLE	PAGE
3.1	Research hypotheses	92
3.2	Rule of thumb on correlation coefficient size	102
4.1	Descriptive statistics analysis result	115
4.2	Correlation matrix	117
4.3	VIF and tolerance tests	119
4.4	Heteroscedasticity test	119
4.5	The result of the least square regression with robust standard	
	errors to examine the effect of DE, DPS, and QR on stock	
	return	120
4.6	The results of GLS and fixed effect regression to examine the	
	effect of DE, DPS, and QR on stock return	122
4.7	The results of the Lagrangian multiplier test and the	
	Hausman test	122
4.8	The result of the least square regression with robust standard	
	errors to examine the effect of DE, DPS, and QR on stock	
	return (model 1)	127
4.9	Heteroscedasticity test	128
4.10	The result of the least square regression with robust standard	
	errors to examine the effect of DE, DPS, QR, and INT on	
	stock return (Model 2)	129
4.11	Heteroscedasticity test	130
4.12	The result of the least square regression with robust standard	
	errors to examine the effect of DE, DPS, QR, INT, INTDE,	
	INTDPS and INTQR on stock return (Model 3)	131
4.13	The results of GLS and fixed effect regression to examine the	
	effect of DE, DPS, and QR on stock return (Model 1)	133

4.14	The results of Lagrangian multiplier test and Hausman test	
	for Model 1	134
4.15	The results of GLS and fixed effect regression to examine the	
	effect of DE, DPS, QR, and INT on stock return (Model	
	2)	135
4.16	The results of Lagrangian multiplier test and Hausman test	
	for Model 2	135
4.17	The results of GLS and fixed effect regression to examine the	
	effect of DE, DPS, QR, INT, INTDE, INTDPS and INTQR	
	on stock return (Model 3)	137
4.18	The results of Lagrangian multiplier test and Hausman test	138
4.19	The result of the least square regression with robust standard	
	errors to examine the effect of DE, DPS, and QR on stock	
	return (Model 1)	143
4.20	Heteroscedasticity test	144
4.21	The result of the least square regression with robust standard	
	errors to examine the effect of DE, DPS, QR, and MS on	
	stock return	145
4.22	Heteroscedasticity test	146
4.23	The result of the least square regression with robust standard	
	errors to examine the effect of DE, DPS, QR, MS, MSDE,	
	MSDPS and MSQR on stock return (Model 3)	147
4.24	The results of GLS and fixed effect regression to examine the	
	effect of DE, DPS and QR on stock return (Model 1)	150
4.25	The results of Lagrangian multiplier test and Hausman test	
	for Model 1	150
4.26	The results of GLS and fixed effect regression to examine the	
	effect of DE, DPS, QR and MS on stock return (Model	
	2)	151
4.27	The results of the Lagrangian multiplier test and the	
	Hausman test for Model 2	152
4.28	The results of GLS and fixed effect regression to examine the	
	effect of DE, DPS, QR, MS, MSDE, MSDPS and MSQR on	
	stock return (Model 3)	153

•	
X1	V

4.29	The summary of the hypotheses and the findings	157
5.1	Summary of the findings	160

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1	NO. TITLE	PAGE
2.1	Signaling timeline	71
2.2	Framework I	80
2.3	Framework II	81
2.4	Framework III	82
3.1	Research process	85
3.2	Deductive vs. Inductive	88
3.3	Relationships between target population, study population and	
	sample	89
3.4	Conceptual framework	91
3.5	Moderator model	105

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

APR - Annual Percentage Rate

APT - Arbitrage Pricing Theory

ASEAN - Association of Southeast Asian Nations

BE/ME - Book value of Equity to Market value of Equity

BM - Book-to-Market Ratio

CAPM - Capital Asset Pricing Model

CPI - Consumer Price IndexDE - Debt-to-Equity Ratio

DIJA - Dow Jones Industrial Average

DMBs - Deposit Money Banks

DPS - Dividend Per Share

DY - Dividend Yield

EBIT - Earnings before Interest and Taxes

ECM - Error Correction Mechanisms

EPS - Earnings Per Share

FDI - Foreign Direct Investment

FFR - Federal Funds Rate

GARCH - Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity

GDP - Gross Domestic Product

GLS - Generalized Least Square

GMM - Generalized Method of Moments

GNP - Gross National Product

INT - Interest Rate

IP - Producer Price Index

IRF - Impulse Response Function

KLSE - Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange

M&M - Modigliani and Miller

MEH - Market Efficiency Hypothesis

MS - Money Supply

MVE - Market Value of Equity

MZM - Money Zero

NASDAQ - National Association of Securities Dealers Automated

Quotations

OLS - Ordinary Least Square

PER - Price Earnings Ratio

QR - Quick Ratio

RGDP - Real Gross Domestic Product

ROA - Return on Assets

ROI - Return on Investment

S&P - Standard & Poor's

SARS - Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome

SR - Stock Return

TA - Total Assets

TD/MV - Total Debt to Market Value

VDC - Variance Decomposition Production Index

VECM - Vector Error Correction Model

VIF - Variance Inflation Factor

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 An Overview of the Malaysian Economy and Stock Market

Malaysia's economic growth has been relatively robust since the country's independence in 1957. In the past six decades, there have been four major economic crises and all of which were externally induced: the oil crisis in 1973; the global economic slowdown in the mid-1980s; the Asian Financial Crisis in 1997/98; and the Global Financial Crisis in 2008. Overall, the country's average annual growth rate has been in the range of 5 to 10 per cent. There have also been significant structural changes during the past five decades. The role of agriculture has declined whilst that of manufacturing has increased. The country's per capita income has increased sixfold during this period. These transformations have taken place in a mixed-economy setting in which both the market and the state have played important roles. A key aspect of the state's role in Malaysia's growth story has been development planning (Cassey Lee & Chew-Ging, 2017).

Development planning has been practiced in Malaysia since the 1950s. Since then, the goals, practices and institutions of development planning in the country have evolved. The changes have taken place within the context of structural change in Malaysia's economy and society. The interaction between development planning and these elements over time has been fairly complex. The medium-term plans (each covering five years) and long-term plans (ten to twenty years) have been drawn up based on the developmental needs of the country and subject to domestic constraints of economic, social, as well as political. The implementation of these development

plans has transformed the country's economy and society (Cassey Lee & Chew-Ging, 2017).

The period of this study starts from the year 2003 which is under 8th Malaysia Plan (MP) until 2012 that is under the 10th MP. Moreover, the 11th MP started in 2016 so the 8th, 9th, 10th and 11th MP are briefly discussed in this section.

Table 1.1: Malaysia Plans from 8th to 11th

Long-term Plan	Short-term Plan
2001-2010	2001-2005 8 th Malaysia Plan
National Vision Policy (NVP)	2006-2010 9 th Malaysia Plan
2011-2020	2011-2015 10 th Malaysia Plan
New Economic Model (NEM)	2016-2020 11th Malaysia Plan

The 8th MP started as shown in Table 1.1 started in 2001 and ended in 2005 with the goals of OPP3 and 2001-2010 Knowledge-based economy. The Third Outline Perspective Plan (OPP3), which constitutes the second decade of development under Vision 2020, focuses on building a resilient and competitive nation. The 2001 Knowledge-based economy master plan was the blueprint to migrate Malaysia from a production-based economy to a knowledge-based economy under the OPP3. There are many definitions of a K-based economy, all revolving around the notion of an economy based on the production, distribution and utilization of knowledge, which

constitutes the primary engine of growth and wealth creation in the economy. For Malaysia's purpose, it is proposed that a knowledge-based economy be defined as an economy in which knowledge, creativity and innovation play an ever-increasing and important role in generating and sustaining growth. This MP faced the challenge of the National Vision Policy (NVP). National Vision Policy was an extension policy of National Development Policy under the cover of 8th and 9th Malaysia Plan. It was a 10 years policy which established during year 2001 and ended by 2010 to fulfill the Third Outline Perspective Plan (OPP3) of Malaysia. Besides, it also was under the second phase of Vision 2020 to continue strengthen the basic transformation of Malaysia to a fully developed nation.

The 9th MP started in 2006 and ended in 2010 with the goals of value chain, human capital and socio-economic inequities. This MP faced the challenges of global financial crisis of 2008 and general election in 2008 and the national mission of 2006-2010. The national mission of 2006-2020 is a framework for the country's development agenda which outlined the key steps to take in fifteen years. The national mission aims to concentrate the country's efforts on priority areas which will ultimately lead to achieving Vision 2020. These priority areas encompass the nation's global competitiveness, human capital development, national integration, ethnic relations, distribution of income and wealth and the quality of life.

The period of the 10th MP was from 2011 to 2015 and its goals were Government Transformation Program, New Economic Model (NEM) and Economic Transformation Program. The NEM provided the economic policy framework to transform the Malaysian economy from a middle-income to advanced economy by the year 2020. The challenges in this MP were high competition for FDI and Weak private investment.

Lastly the period of the 11th MP is from 2016 to 2020 with the goals of inclusiveness, well-being, infrastructures and green growth. This MP has the challenges of fiscal constraints, deindustrialization and the Malaysian national development strategy. The Eleventh Malaysia Plan, 2016–20 (11th MP) was launched in May 2015. Overall, the contents of the 11th MP document were not organized along

sectoral lines, even though some of the strategy papers supporting the Plan were sectoral in nature. Compared to the 10th MP, the 11th MP had a greater "people focus" with specific emphases on inclusiveness, well-being and human capital development. The strategies for infrastructure sector were also presented in a separate chapter in the 11th MP. Overall, the 11th MP contained more details on some of the programs to be implemented including the agencies involved, though without any details on financial allocations. The 11th MP came to reaffirm the government's commitment to a vision of growth founded on welfare. The (2011-2020) National Transformation Policy maintains the focus on people by means of a New Economic Model aimed at a sustainable and inclusive economy of high income.

Economic growth is affected by various factors and stock market is one of them. Janor *et al.* (2005) studied the Malaysian stock market as a predictor of the economic activity in Malaysia and they found that Malaysian stock market led changes in economic activities. Studying the relationship between stock returns and macroeconomic variables differs based on the economic status of the country (developed, emerging or developing), the variables used as the independent variables, the timeframe, the methodology as well as the type of stock used to measure the returns. All these variables considered to be emphasized as the policy instruments by the government in order to stabilize stock return. Thus, there is need to determine what the factors are that affect the performance of the stock market because Malaysia is undergoing a transformation in its economic system (Fahmi, *et al.*, 2017). Based on an empirical analysis by Anwar and Sun (2011) on Malaysian stock market for the period 1970–2007, the level of financial development has contributed to the growth of the domestic capital stock in Malaysia.

Stock return is affected by many factors which could be macroeconomic variables, firm characteristics, market sentiment and so on. This study analyzes the influence of macroeconomic variables and firm characteristics in details, but market sentiment is explained briefly here. Market sentiment as one of the influential factors on stock return is the overall attitude of investors toward a particular security or financial market. Market sentiment is the feeling or tone of a market, or its crowd psychology, as revealed through the activity and price movement of the securities

traded in that market. A research by Anusakumar et al,. (2017) examined the link between investor sentiment and stock returns in emerging Asian markets including Malaysia. Two dimensions of sentiment were examined: stock specific sentiment and market wide sentiment. Using panel regression with firm fixed effects, they showed that stock specific sentiment strongly and positively affects stock returns after controlling for firm characteristics.

One of the most important determinants of stock markets as well as KLSE -Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange- is money supply. Money supply is controlled by government through monetary policy by several ways which treasury bill rate is one of them. An increase in government borrowing through the issuance of treasury bills affects the stock market through investors' re-adjustment of portfolio balances. Low treasury bill rates are expected to stimulate transfers of domestic funds from the money market to the stock market (Pilbeam, 1992). High and persistent fiscal deficits accommodated by the issuance of high yielding but less-risky government instruments like the treasury bill adversely affect the demand for securities being issued by private firms for long-term capital. In this exposition, the impact of the treasury bill rate also affects stock market activity much in the same way as interest on demand and savings deposits (Kyereboah-Coleman & Agyire-Tettey, 2008). This study examines the effect money supply and real interest rate. Discount rate influences money supply but it is not the only influential factor. Reserve ratio, open market operations and federal funds rate are also determinants of money supply. In addition, this study does not analyze the effect of interest rate but the real interest rate which includes the impact of inflation as well. Therefore, even though money supply and real interest rate might be negatively correlated but their effect, but their effect might be slightly different on stock return.

Economic bubbles and crises substantially effect stock markets. According to Azizan and Sulong (2011) Malaysian stock market is related to U.S. stock market. They found that only the stock price and exchange rate of other countries had a relationship with Malaysian stock price after investigating the effect of macroeconomic variables of Asian countries and U.S on Malaysian stock market. Besides, Teng *et al.* (2013) showed that the stock markets of ASEAN-5 are highly

integrated with the U.S. stock market. Since the Malaysian stock market (KLSE) is highly integrated with the U.S. stock market, the United States housing bubble highly affected Malaysian stock market in 2008. The KLCI, which is the main index and market indicator in Malaysia, dropped around 670 points within the period of 14th of January 2008 to 12th of September 2008 which is 45% drop in its value. This was the biggest decline in the KLCI value after the East Asian financial crisis of 1997.

Studying Malaysian stock market is important because investors have special interest in this market as it offers a different pattern of stock price movement from the developed and some other developing economies Rahman et al. (2009). The main reasons that distinguish the stock market of Malaysia from other countries are market efficiency and dividend policy. Regarding market efficiency, Neoh (1989) found that the US stock market is more efficient than the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE). The efficiency measurement in his study was based on the fundamental factor of asset pricing. While the American firms only consider the factors of true value in pricing their shares, the Malaysian firms include other non-fundamental factors such as bonus issues. Unlike most of the developed economies, the stock market of Malaysia seems to be in a weak form of efficiency -past price movements and volume data do not affect stock prices- (Balkiz, 2003; Ibrahim & Abdul Rahman, 2003; Liew et al., 2003; Thong & Kok, 2003). In regard to the dividend policy, a prior study by Mansor and Subramaniam (1992) found that the Malaysian stock market responds to the dividend announcements, but such effect did not hold in a later research by (Yong et al. 2003). This might suggest that the dividend signaling effect for the stock market of Malaysia is sensitive to a different economic variable. The dividend signaling model unlike Malaysia, holds for almost all of the developed countries (Aharony & Swary, 1980; Bajaj & Vijh, 1990; Denis, Denis, & Sarin, 1994; Eades, 1982; Kwan, 1981; Lang & Litzenberger, 1989; Woolridge, 1982; Yoon & Starks, 1995).

1.2 Background of Study

The background of this study dates back to 1953 when Kendall and Hill (1953) observed that stock prices seemed to wander randomly over time. Numerous studies later examined the effective factors, including interest rates, book-to-market ratio, dividend yield, and earnings-price ratio (e.g., Fama and Schwert 1977; Campbell, 1987; Fama & French, 1988; Smitu P Kothari & Shanken, 1997). Afterwards, Malkiel (1973) explained the Random Walk Theory, which theorizes that stock prices follow no predictable pattern. The Random Walk Theory is, however, consistent with the efficient market hypothesis, which confirms that markets constantly correct prices based on new information. However, the theory is valid only if the market is efficient, and therefore, stocks are not undervalued or overvalued at any particular moment. Since the assumption of Random Walk Theory (an efficient market) is not fulfilled, share price might not fluctuate randomly. Consequently, as previous studies indicated, stock return could be influenced by several macroeconomic and financial ratios in both the short and long term. Therefore, this study, along with similar research, tries to find the influential factors on stock return.

Later, Modigliani and Miller (1958) proposed their revolutionary capital structure irrelevance theory as a basis for modern thinking on capital structure. The basic theorem states that, under certain assumptions -no tax, no transaction cost, no bankruptcy cost, equivalence in borrowing costs for both companies and investors, symmetry of market information, no effect of debt on a company's earnings before interest and tax- the value of a firm is unaffected by how the firm is financed. However, they included the effect of tax and bankruptcy costs in their additional papers. Their next proposition which is called "Modigliani and Miller's Tradeoff Theory of Leverage" assumes that there are benefits to leverage within a capital structure up until the optimal capital structure is reached (Ross *et al.*, 2002). The theory recognizes the tax benefit from interest payments, which is because interest paid on debt is tax deductible. Therefore, issuing bonds effectively reduces a company's tax liability, as interest on a bond is tax deductible but interest on a dividend is not. Moreover, the actual rate of interest companies pay on the issued bond is less than the nominal rate of interest because of the tax savings.

In other words, the tradeoff theory states that the market value of a company is calculated using its earning power and the risk of its underlying assets and is independent of the way it finances investments or distributes dividends. There are three methods a firm can choose to finance: borrowing, spending profits (versus handing them out to shareholders in the form of dividends), and straight issuance of shares. While complicated, the theorem in its simplest form is based on the idea that with certain assumptions in place, there is no difference between a firm financing itself with debt or equity.

The tradeoff theory has dominated thinking about capital structure for a long time, but it has some shortcomings. Perhaps the most obvious is that many large and highly profitable firms use little debt. This is the opposite of what is expected from the tradeoff theory. Under the tradeoff theory, these are the firms that should use the most debt because there is little risk of bankruptcy and the value of the tax shield is substantial.

The pecking-order theory by Myers (1984) is an alternative to the tradeoff theory. This theory argued that equity is a less preferred means to raise capital because when managers issue new equity, investors believe that managers think that the firm is overvalued. Managers are taking advantage of this over-evaluation, and, as a result, investors will place a lower value to the new equity issuance. A key element in the pecking-order theory is that firms prefer to use internal financing whenever possible. A simple reason is that selling securities to raise cash can be expensive, so it makes sense to avoid doing so if possible. If a firm is very profitable, it might never need external financing, so it would end up with little to no debt. According to this theory, companies should have a pecking order. They should use internal financing first, then only issue debt and, if necessary, equity should be sold as a last resort.

Researchers have not reached a definitive conclusion on whether the tradeoff theory or the pecking-order theory is correct, but there are still a few observations that could be made. The tradeoff theory applies more to long-run financial goals or strategies. The issues of tax shields and financial distress costs are plainly important in that context. The pecking-order theory is more concerned with the short-term,

tactical issue of raising external funds to finance investments. Both theories are useful ways of understanding corporate use of debt. For example, it is probably the case that firms have long-run, target capital structures, but it is also probably true that they will deviate from those long-run targets as needed to avoid issuing new equity

An alternative to the M&M theory regarding dividend policies is the bird-in-hand theory proposed by Gordon and Lintner (1963). This theory states that investors are indifferent to whether their returns from holding a stock arise from dividends or capital gains. Under this theory, stocks with high dividend payouts are sought by investors and, consequently, command a higher market price. The bird-in-hand theory postulates that investors prefer dividends from a stock to potential capital gains because of the inherent uncertainty of the latter. Based on the proverb "a bird in the hand is worth two in the bush," the bird-in-hand theory states investors prefer the certainty of dividend payments to the possibility of substantially higher future capital gains.

Numerous studies have been conducted in order to find the most influential micro or macroeconomic variables on stock return (I. Ibrahim & Bala, 2017; Idris & Bala, 2015; Ramadan, 2015; Shabib-ul-hasan & Muddassir, 2015; Stefano, 2015; Surow, 2014). Some characteristics like dividend in developed countries have shown a strong ability in forecasting stock returns (Aharony & Swary, 1980; Bajaj & Vijh, 1990; Denis *et al.*, 1994; Eades, 1982; Lang & Litzenberger, 1989; Woolridge, 1982; Yoon & Starks, 1995). The effect of macroeconomic variables on the stock market has been well documented for industrialized economies (Chen *et al.*, 2005; Fama, 1981; Maysami & Koh, 2000; Mukherjee & Naka, 1995). However, the findings for developing countries are still inconclusive. As stated by Rahman *et al.* (2009) variation in the stock prices are affected by the changes in macroeconomic performance in the developed markets, but results are indecisive for the emerging markets.

Past empirical studies that have investigated the relationship between micro and/or macroeconomic variables and stock return have shown contradictory results. For example, Al-Shubiri (2010) studied the impact of microeconomic and macroeconomic variables on the Amman Stock Exchange for the period of 2005 -

2008. Based on the findings of his study, dividend payout percentage was the only effective variable on stock price of the Amman Stock Exchange. Idris & Bala (2015) studied the effect of firms' specific characteristics -market capitalization, debt-to-equity ratio and earnings per share- on stock return in Nigeria and found debt-to-equity ratio as the only influential variable. Moreover, Samarakoon (2009) found that the portfolios formed on the basis of size had no significant relationship on returns in the Sri Lankan stock market. Conversely, a study on Indian companies by Senthilkumar (2009) showed that when small size firms earned higher returns than the large sized firms. Sari and Hutagaol (2009) conducted a study in Indonesia on the influence of capital structure, business risk, and the market risk. The results of their research showed that the capital structure, which is measured by debt-to-equity ratio, and stock return are highly and positively related. However, in another study carried out by Ahmad *et al.* (2012)on the effect of capital structure on firm performance, there was no significant impact of short-term, long-term, or total debt on firm performance.

Idris and Bala (2015) specified that so far, there is no consensus as to whether a single or combination of variables best explain stock market returns. According to Dadashinasab (2015), conflicting results might be because of using different methodologies, studying different scopes, or lack of moderating or mediating variables. Moreover, Singh *et al.* (2011) noted that investors have a better chance to develop profitable investment strategies if they include macroeconomic variables in their decision making.

1.3 Problem Statement

Malaysian stock market has received the highest foreign investment in the region compared to Indonesia, Thailand, Philippines and Vietnam. Despite the significantly high interest in this stock market by investors and shareholders, there is not enough information to lower the risk of investment in this market. The existing studies on the determinants of stock return in Malaysia show contradicting results (Idris & Bala, 2015). Based on Dadashinasab (2015), conflicting results might be because of using different methodologies or lack of moderating or mediating variables.

Therefore, this study focuses on Malaysian stock market which according to Ho *et al.* (2011) has received a high attention from investors in the last three decades. Three financial ratios that show contradicting results in the previous research have been selected as independent variables. Two macroeconomic variables that can be controlled by policy makers have been selected as moderating variables in this research.

Some characteristics in developed countries have shown a strong ability in forecasting stock returns. According to Idris and Bala (2015), the explanatory power of variable(s) on stock market returns might depend on the country and period of study. The effect of macroeconomic variables on the stock market has been well documented for industrialized economies (Chen *et al.*, 2005; Fama, 1981; Maysami & Koh, 2000; Mukherjee & Naka, 1995). But, the findings for developing countries are still inconclusive. As stated by Rahman *et al.* (2009) the variations in the stock prices are affected by the changes in macroeconomic performance in the developed markets such as USA and Japan, but results are indecisive for the developing countries like Malaysia.

Emerging markets, as mentioned by Cohen (2002), have on average higher stock return than developed countries such as the European Union, Japan, and the United States. Based on another study conducted by Lim (2009), there is rapid growth and low correlations between emerging markets in the region of South-East Asia. The low correlations between the markets in this region offers lower portfolio risk for international investors. Guidi and Gupta (2011) stated that during the 2000s, ASEAN equity markets have experienced a rapid growth in the number of listed companies, capitalization and liquidity. These make their stock markets interesting for both domestic and international investors seeking new opportunities to diversify their portfolio. Moreover, Ho *et al.* (2011) stated in their research that investors in the last three decades have paid more attention to ASEAN-5 markets, especially Malaysia and Singapore. Therefore, the Malaysian stock market is selected to be studies in this research.

According to Chung and Ariff (2016) and Urbanovsky (2016), Friedman's proposition has yet received unanimous empirical support. Friedman (1983) stated that increase in money supply should lead to liquidity surges -to credit expansion. Moreover, based on a research by Singh *et al.* (2011) investors have a better chance of developing profitable investment strategies if they include the impact of macroeconomic variables in their decision making. This is because macroeconomic variables could directly and indirectly affect stock return. However, even though many studies have found significant influence of macroeconomic variables and financial ratios on stock market, the findings are not conclusive. According to a research by Idris and Bala (2015) there is no consensus as to which a single or combination of variables best explains stock market returns. This introduces a gap of knowledge to be filled by researchers through including other variables and/or moderators as well as control for country and economic condition.

1.3.1 The Impact of Financial Ratios on the Stock Return in Malaysia

The relationships between financial ratios and stock return have been investigated in a considerable number of studies and various results have been presented. Studies on the impact of financial ratios on stock return in developing countries are limited compared to developed countries and have shown contradicting results. Recent studies regarding the impact of financial ratios on firm performance and stock return in developing countries are (Hunjra et al, 2014; I. Ibrahim & Bala, 2017; Idris & Bala, 2015; Ramadan, 2015; Shabib-ul-hasan & Muddassir, 2015; Stefano, 2015; Surow, 2014).

As stated in the background of the study, the previous research on the impact of financial ratios and stock return have shown inconsistent results. For instance, Al-Shubiri (2010) studied the impact of microeconomic and macroeconomic variables - Net Asset Value per Share (NAVPS), Dividend percentage (DIV), Earnings per Share (EPS), Lending interest rate (INT), Inflation rate (INF), Gross Domestic Product (GDP)- on the Amman Stock Exchange for the period of 2005-2008. According to the findings of his study, dividend payout percentage was the only influential variable on

stock price of the Amman Stock Exchange. However, Idris and Bala (2015) studied the effect of market capitalization, debt-to-equity ratio and earnings per Share on stock return in Nigeria and found debt-to-equity ratio as the only influential variable on stock return in Nigeria and found debt-to-equity ratio as the only influential variable. Moreover, Samarakoon (2009) found that the portfolios formed on the basis of size had no significant relationship on returns in the Sri Lankan stock market. Conversely, a study on Indian companies by Senthilkumar (2009) showed that when portfolios formed on the basis of size, the same behavior was observed as in the developed stock markets. Small size firms earned a higher return than the larger sized firms. Sari and Hutagaol (2009) conducted a study in Indonesia on the influence of capital structure, business risk, and the market risk. The results of their research showed that the capital structure, which is measured by debt-to-equity ratio, and stock return are highly and positively related. However, Ahmad et al. (2012) found no significant impact of shortterm, long-term, or total debt on firm performance in their research. This study has chosen debt-to-equity ratio, dividend per share, and quick ratio, because they have contradictory results in developing countries.

According to Dadashinasab (2015), conflicting results might be because of using different methodologies, having different scopes, or lack of moderating or mediating variables. Therefore, this study uses moderators and different methodology in examining the relationship between the selected financial ratios (debt-to-equity ratio, dividend per share, and quick ratio) and stock return. In addition, based on Basiruddin (2011), Ordinary Least Square (OLS) regression may not be an efficient estimator as some of the assumptions are not fulfilled. Therefore, to avoid methodological problems, this study uses the least square regression with robust standard error, Generalized Least Square (GLS), and Fixed Effect regressions to analyze the data.

This study intended to examine the relationship between financial ratios (debt-to-equity ratio, dividend per share, and quick ratio) and stock return in Malaysia. As mentioned in the above discussion, studies show conflicting results on the impact of these ratios on stock return. Therefore, they have been selected in this study to analyze their impact on stock return while adding control variables and try three different

regression estimators to avoid methodological problems. In addition, since based the previous research conflicting results might be because of lack of moderator or mediator, two macroeconomic variables have been selected as moderators which are explained in section 1.3.2.

1.3.2 The Moderating Impact of Macroeconomic Variables on the Relationship between Financial Ratios and Stock Return in Malaysia

Studies on the relationship between macroeconomic variables and stock return in developed countries have been well developed. But, in recent years, research has focused on developing economies as stock markets in these countries offer higher return (Auzairy at al., 2011; Cohen, 2002; Guidi & Gupta, 2011; Lim, 2009). The following are notable studies on developing countries including Malaysia: (Al-Shubiri, 2010; Auzairy *et al.*, 2011; M. H.; Granger, Huangb, & Yang, 2000; Mansor H Ibrahim & Aziz, 2003; Maysami & Sim, 2001; Mugableh, 2015; Singh *et al.*, 2011).

According to Idris and Bala (2015) there is no agreement among researchers on a single or a combination of variables that best explain stock returns. Moreover, Chung and Ariff (2016) and Urbanovský (2016) mentioned in their studies that Friedman's proposition on the impact of money supply has yet received unanimous empirical support. Based on Friedman's proposition money supply increases should lead to liquidity surges-to credit expansion. In addition, based on Singh *et al.* (2011) if investors include macroeconomic variables in their decision making, they will have a better chance to develop profitable investment strategies. According to Dadashinasab (2015), reaching contradictory results might be because of studying in different economic conditions (according to Modigliani and Miller's capital structure theory) or maybe due to the period or scope of study or lack of mediating or moderating variables.

This study analyzes the effect of moderating variables because of the following reasons. First, there are conflicting results on relationship between financial ratios and stock return which according to Dadashinasab (2015) might be because of lack of a moderator. Secondly, based on the Modigliani and Miller's capital structure theory,

the impact of capital structure on firm performance could be influenced by economic condition. Therefore, this study selected two macroeconomic variables that represent the economic condition to analyze their effect on the relationship between the selected financial ratios and stock return.

Although there is a considerable number of studies on the effect of macroeconomic variables on stock return, as of the author's best knowledge, there is no research on the moderating effect of macroeconomic variables on the relationship between financial ratios and stock return. Therefore, based on the above discussion, this study intended to examine whether macroeconomic variables influence the relationship between financial ratios and stock return in Malaysia.

Therefore, this study included macroeconomic variables, utilized moderators, and used different estimators -generalized least square and fixed effect regression to fill the mentioned gaps. The financial ratios in this study are debt-to-equity ratio, dividend per share and quick ratio, and the macroeconomic variables are interest rate and money supply.

1.4 Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to investigate the effect of three financial ratios on the stock return in Malaysia and the role of macroeconomic variables as moderating variables on this relationship.

The selected financial ratios are debt-to-equity ratio (DE), dividend per share (DPS), and quick ratio (QR). These variables have been selected because they have shown contradictory results in the studies on developing countries. DE ratio can affect stock return because changing the amount of debt affects the cost of debt and risk of bankruptcy which in turn influences the demand for the stock and consequently its price and return. Based on the bird-in-hand theory, DPS can affect stock return as investors prefer return through dividends rather than uncertainty of capital gain through changes in stock price. QR can influence stock return because a high QR gives

the investors an assurance about the firm's ability to payout its debt. This can lead to higher demand for the stock and consequently higher price and return.

The selected macroeconomic variables are money supply and (real) interest rate. Money supply has been selected because it can be increased or decreased through monetary policy by policy makers. Therefore, policy makers could use the results of this study for economic expansion through stock market. Increasing money supply could increase investment because of raising the amount money in circulation. This affects the demand for investment in stock market and consequently the stock return. The amount of money in circulation can also change the impact of financial ratios on stock return through influencing the risk of bankruptcy. Real interest rate has been selected in order to consider not only nominal interest rate but also inflation rate. Interest rate can influence the effect of financial ratios on stock return through influencing the cost of debt and risk of bankruptcy.

1.5 Research Questions of the Study

Based on the problem statement, the following research questions are raised:

- 1. Do financial ratios affect stock return in Malaysia?
- 2. Does interest rate moderate the relationship between financial ratios and stock return in Malaysia?
- 3. Does money supply moderate the relationship between financial ratios and stock return in Malaysia?

1.6 Objectives of the Study

This research is designed to achieve the following objectives:

1. To examine the effect of financial ratios on stock return in Malaysia.

- 2. To investigate the moderating effect of interest rate on the relationship between financial ratios and stock return in Malaysia.
- 3. To investigate the moderating effect of money supply on the relationship between financial ratios and stock return in Malaysia.

1.7 Scope of the Study

This study aims to examine the impact of three financial ratios -DE (debt-to-equity ratio), DPS (dividend per share), and QR (quick ratio)- on stock return in Malaysia. It also aims to investigate the moderating impact of two macroeconomic variables -INT (interest rate) and MS (money supply)- on this relationship.

The scope of this study is Malaysia because of the following reasons. Cohen (2001) stated that emerging markets -including Malaysia- on average have a higher stock return than developed countries consisting the European Union, Japan and the United States. Based on another study conducted by Lim (2009), Rapid growth and low correlations between emerging markets in the South-East Asian region -especially ASEAN-5- can offer higher returns and lower portfolio risk for international investors. Guidi & Gupta (2011) remarked the rapid pace of economic growth of South-East Asian countries during the 2000s, as well as the large inflows of FDI. In addition, based on by Ho *et al.* (2011) in the last three decades, investors have paid more attention to ASEAN-5 markets, especially Singapore and Malaysia. Rahman *et al.* (2009) mentioned that the stock market of Malaysia is of special interest because it may trigger a different pattern of stock price movement from the developed or other developing countries. Therefore, the Malaysian stock market have been selected as the scope of this research.

All the firms listed in the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE) are the population of this study. According to Bursa Malaysia the number of companies that were listed in KLSE in 2003 -the base year in this study- is 906 firms. The sample size in this study is 300 firms which were selected based on the availability of their data in

Datastream. The period of this study is 10 years from 2003 to 2012. Secondary data has been collected from Datastream, annual financial reports and world bank.

Table 1.2: Sectors and sample size

Sector	Sample	Sector	Sample
Trading & Service	65	REIT	4
Technology	11	Finance	12
Properties	38	Consumer Product	37
Plantation	20	Construction	19
Mining	1	IPC	2
Industrial Product	89	Hotels	2

Table 1.2 shows the number of samples in each sector that have been used in this study.

1.8 Significance of Study

Relationships between financial ratios and stock return in developed countries have been investigated in a considerable number of studies and they have presented various results. However, studies on the impact of financial ratios on stock return in developing countries are limited compared to developed countries and they show contradicting results. There have been some studies regarding the impact of financial ratios on firm performance and stock return in developing countries. (Ahmad *et al.*, 2013; Ahmad & Wajid, 2013; Z. Ahmad *et al.*, 2012a; Al-Shubiri, 2010; Aldin *et al.*, 2012; Altug *et al.*, 2012; Chambers *et al.*, 2013; Chang *et al.*, 2010; Gitman & Zutter, 2012a; Hunjra *et al.*, 2014; I. Ibrahim & Bala, 2017; Idris & Bala, 2015; Parrino *et al.*, 2011; Ramadan, 2015; Shabib-ul-hasan & Muddassir, 2015; Shafana *et al.*, 2013; Stefano, 2015; Surow, 2014).

Similarly, studies on the relationship between macroeconomic variables and stock return in developing countries are less than industrialized countries. However,

in recent years, researchers have focused more on developing economies. Some of the notable studies on developing countries, including Malaysia are as follow: (Ali, 2011; Auzairy *et al.*, 2011; Mugableh, 2015; Ray, 2012; Seng, 2012; Singh *et al.*, 2011; Vejzagic & Zarafat, 2013).

Although there are a considerable number of studies on the effect of micro and macroeconomic variables on stock return, as of the author's best knowledge, there is no research on the effect of financial ratios on stock return moderated by macroeconomic variables. The conflicting results from previous research could be because of different methodologies, scopes, or lack of moderating or mediating variables in the relationship between financial ratios and stock return.

On the other hand, based on (Singh *et al.*, 2011), investors have a better chance to develop profitable investment strategies if they include macroeconomic variables in their decision making. Afterward, Chung and Ariff (2016) and Urbanovský (2016) specified that Friedman's proposition -(Friedman, 1983)- of "increasing money supply should lead to liquidity surges" has received unanimous empirical support.

Therefore, this study -examining the relationship between financial ratios and stock return by the moderating role of macroeconomic variables- contributes to the body of knowledge and consequently responds to the identified research gap in this field.

The methodological contribution of the present study is using several regression estimations. The regression estimators include the least square regression with robust standard error, Generalized Least Square (GLS) and Fixed Effect regression. Using these regression estimator is because OLS regression may not be an efficient estimator when some of the assumptions are not fulfilled (Basiruddin, 2011). Moreover, according to Ibrahim and Aziz (2003), the dynamic responses of the stock price to changes in macroeconomic variables, especially its lagged responses to real economic activity, suggest inefficiency in the Malaysian equity market. Therefore, this study considered the stock return of the subsequent year as a dependent variable and

tested the direct effect of the microeconomic and moderating effect of macroeconomic variables on stock return.

Findings of this study provide meaningful insights to policy makers, managers, and investors. The results may help the regulatory bodies to better understand the stock market behavior in Malaysia towards achieving their desired monetary goals. Moreover, by knowing the moderating role of macroeconomic variables, both the personal and corporate investors can proactively plan their investments based on the changes in monetary policy.

1.9 Method of Study

This study examines the effect of the three selected financial ratios -debt-to-equity ratio, dividend per share, and quick ratio- on stock return in the context of Malaysia, as well as the moderating impact of the two selected macroeconomic variables -money supply and interest rate- on their relationships. The sample size in this study is 300 firms selected from the listed companies in the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE). The period of the study is 10 years from 2003 to 2012.

This study uses secondary data, which was collected from 3 main sources, including DataStream International, financial annual reports, and the World Bank databank. The two sources used to collect data pertaining to financial ratios and stock return were the Datastream and financial annual reports. The source used to procure macroeconomic data was the World Bank databank.

To analyze the data, the statistical software STATA 13.0 was used. The data analysis includes descriptive statistics, the correlation matrix, multivariate regression, and robustness tests.

Two types of regression techniques were employed to investigate the influence of the independent variables on the dependent variable and role of the moderating variable. First, multiple regression was employed to examine the effect of DE, DPS,

and QR on stock return. Second, moderated multiple regression was used to explore the moderating impact of the selected macroeconomic variables (MS and INT) on the relationship between selected financial ratios and stock return (Baron & Kenny, 1986; Hayes & Matthes, 2009; Kincheloe *et al.*, 2011).

Several tests were performed after multivariate regression analysis. The purpose of these additional tests was to give reasonable assurance that the main findings were robust to the various model specifications. The robustness tests included tests for multicollinearity and heteroscedasticity, various regression estimators such as least square regression with robust standard errors, generalized least squares regression (GLS), and fixed effect regression, as well as testing for additional control variables (Basiruddin, 2011).

1.10 Outline of the Study

This thesis consists of five chapters.

Chapter 1 mainly includes the background of the study, problem statement, significance, and scope of this study along with the method of study. This chapter starts with the background of study and an overview of the Malaysian economy. Later, the problem statement is explained and, based on the problem statement, the purpose, objective, and questions of this study are presented. Finally, the significance and scope of study are discussed, followed by the method of study.

Chapter 2 discusses the related literatures in three main sections, followed by explaining the related theories and proposed hypotheses. The first section focuses on studies on the dependent variable of this research, which is stock return. The second section reviews the literature on financial ratios and their impact on stock return. The third section reviews the studies on macroeconomic variables and their relationship with firm performance and stock return. Afterward, theories that are related to this study are reviewed and, finally, conceptual frameworks and hypotheses are presented.

Chapter 3 describes the research process and research methodology that have been used in this study. Detailed explanations are presented regarding the variables of the study, measurement methods, and data analysis methods.

Chapter 4 presents and explains the results of the data analyses of this study. The descriptive statistics and correlation matrix results are presented, followed by the regression analyses results. Findings of the regression analyses are presented in the following three sections:

Analysis I: Impact of financial ratios on stock return.

Analysis II: Impact of interest rate as a moderating variable on the relationship between financial ratios and stock return.

Analysis III: Impact of money supply as a moderating variable on the relationship between financial ratios and stock return.

Chapter 5 presents the discussions and conclusions of this study. This chapter consists of several sections, starting with the recapitulation of the study aims and objectives, followed by a summary of findings and discussion of results based on the empirical examinations of the study's conceptual framework. Finally, explications of theoretical and empirical contributions of this study are explained, followed by a description of the limitations of the study and recommendations for future research.

1.11 Definitions of Terms

This section briefly explains the variables of this study. DE, DPS, and QR are the independent variables, and TA and BM are the control variables. The moderating variables are MS and INT and the dependent variable is SR.

1.11.1 **Debt-to-Equity Ratio (DE)**

The debt-to-equity ratio (D/E) is a financial ratio indicating the relative proportion of shareholders' equity and debt used to finance a company's assets (Peterson & Fabozzi, 1999). In other words, D/E is defined as a measure of a company's financial leverage, known as gearing or leverage ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing a company's total liabilities by shareholders' equity and it shows the proportion of debt to equity that a firm is using to finance its assets. A high D/E ratio shows that the firm has been aggressive in financing its growth by using debt.

1.11.2 Dividend per Share (DPS)

The dividend per share (DPS) -also known as dividend yield, or dividend price ratio of a share- is the dividend per share divided by the price per share (Cohen, 2002). Since the number one goal of a company is to return value to its shareholders, analyzing DPS is important for shareholders and investors. Shareholders' value is driven by company's profits and the amount of money it pays out in dividends.

1.11.3 Quick Ratio (QR)

Quick ratio measures the ability of a company to use its near cash or quick assets to extinguish or retire its current liabilities immediately. Quick assets include those current assets that presumably can be quickly converted to cash at close to their book values. Unlike current ratio, inventory is excluded from the sum of assets in the quick ratio (Tracy & Tracy, 2004). This ratio is a measurement for how well a company can meet its short-term liabilities. QR is more conservative than another liquidity measurement known as current ratio. QR provides a more rigorous valuation of a firm's ability to pay its current liabilities since it eliminates all but the most liquid assets from current assets.

1.11.4 Total Assets (TA)

In financial accounting, an asset is an economic resource. Anything tangible or intangible that can be owned or controlled to produce value and that is held by a company to produce positive economic value is an asset. Simply stated, assets represent value of ownership that can be converted into cash (although cash itself is also considered an asset) (Sullivan, 2003).

1.11.5 Book-to-Market Ratio (BM)

The book-to-market ratio is a ratio used to find the value of a company by comparing the book value of a firm to its market value. Book value is calculated by looking at the firm's historical cost or accounting value. Market value is determined in the stock market through its market capitalization.

1.11.6 Interest Rate (INT)

Interest rate is the amount of interest due per period as a proportion of the amount lent, deposited, or borrowed (called the principal sum). The total interest on an amount lent or borrowed depends on the principal sum, the interest rate, the compounding frequency, and the length of time over which it is lent, deposited, or borrowed. This research, as some of the similar studies (W. Huang *et al.*, 2016; Omran, 2003), examined the effect of real interest rate. Real interest rate is an interest rate that has been adjusted to remove the effects of inflation to reflect the real cost of funds to the borrower and the real yield to the lender or to an investor.

1.11.7 Money Supply (MS)

Money supply (or money stock) is the total amount of monetary assets available in an economy at a specific time. There are several ways to define money but standard measures usually include currency in circulation and demand deposits (DeFusco, Johnson, & Zorn, 1990). In this study similar to other research, a standard measure including currency in circulation and demand deposits -known as broad money (M2)- is selected as representative of money supply. Malaysia Money Supply M2 includes M1 plus short-term time deposits in banks. M1 includes cash, checking deposits. Money Supply M2 in Malaysia is averaged at 568348.27 MYR Million from 1970 until 2018, reached an all-time high of 1771046.87 MYR Million in April of 2018 and a record low of 4122.30 MYR Million in December of 1970.

1.11.8 Stock Return (SR)

Stock return is defined as the capital gain or loss as a result of investing in the stock market (Jones & Neuberger, 2000). Stock return is received through trading in the secondary market in the form of capital gains (changes in stock price) and dividends (Hällefors, 2013; Idris & Bala, 2017)

1.12 Summary

This chapter consists of the background of the study, the problem statement, significance, and scope of this study along with the method of study. This chapter starts with the background of the study and overview of the Malaysian economy. Later, the problem statement is explained and is accompanied by supporting theories and literature, research gap, and contribution of this study. Based on the problem statement, the purpose, objectives, and questions of this study are presented. Finally, the significance and scope of the study are discussed, followed by the method of study.

REFERENCES

- Aharony, J., & Swary, I. (1980). Quarterly dividend and earnings announcements and stockholders' returns: An empirical analysis. *The Journal of Finance*, *35*(1), 1–12.
- Ahmad, H., Fida, B. A., & Zakaria, M. (2013). The co-determinants of capital structure and stock returns: evidence from the Karachi stock exchange. *The Lahore Journal of Economics*, 18(1), 81.
- Ahmad, K., & Wajid, S. (2013). What Matters for Economic Growth in Pakistan: Fiscal Policy or its Composition? *Asian Economic and Financial Review*, 3(2), 196.
- Ahmad, M. I., Rehman, R. U., & Raoof, A. (2010). Do interest rate, exchange rate effect stock returns? a pakistani perspective. *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, 50(50), 146–150. Retrieved from http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-77958126792&partnerID=40&md5=da0c66381d653be51886f7d771b1a27d
- Ahmad, Z., Abdullah, M. N. H., & Roslan, S. (2012a). Capital Structure Effect on Firms Performance: Focusing on Consumers and Industrials Sectors on Malaysian Firms. *International Review of Business Research Papers*, 8(5), 137–155.
- Ahmad, Z., Abdullah, N. M. H., & Roslan, S. (2012b). Capital structure effect on firms performance: Focusing on consumers and industrials sectors on Malaysian firms. *International Review of Business Research Papers*, 8(5), 137–155.
- Al-Qenae, R., & Li, C. (2002). C. & Wearing, B.(2002). The Information Content of Earnings on Stock Prices: The Kuwait Stock Exchange. *Multinational Finance Journal*, 6, 197–221.
- Al-Shubiri, F. (2010). Analysis the Determinants of Market Stock Price Movements:

 An Empirical Study of Jordanian Commercial Banks. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 5(10), 137. Retrieved from

- http://www.ezproxy.dsu.edu:2048/login?url=http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=2223174981&Fmt=7&clientId=18865&RQT=309&VName=PQD
- Aldin, M. M., Dehnavi, H. D., Hajighasemi, M., & Hajighasemi, A. (2012). Investigating the Effect of Fundamental Accounting Variables on the Stock Prices Variations. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 4(10), 125.
- Ali, M. B. (2011). Impact of micro and macroeconomic variables on emerging stock market return: A case on Dhaka Stock Exchange (DSE). *Interdisciplinary Journal of Research in Business*, *1*(5), 8–16.
- Altug, S., Neyapti, B., & Emin, M. (2012). Institutions and business cycles. *International Finance*, 15(3), 347–366.
- Angela, L., Komala, P., & Nugroho, P. I. (2013). The Effects of Profitability Ratio, Liquidity, and Debt towards Investment Return. *Journal of Business and Economics*, 4(11), 1176–1186.
- Anusakumar, S. V, Ali, R., & Wooi, H. C. (2017). The Effect of Investor Sentiment On Stock Returns: Insight From Emerging Asian Markets. *Asian Academy of Management Journal of Accounting & Finance*, 13(1).
- Archambeau, C., & Caron, F. (2012). Plackett-Luce regression: A new Bayesian model for polychotomous data. *ArXiv Preprint ArXiv:1210.4844*. Retrieved from http://arxiv.org/abs/1210.4844
- Ariff, M., & Nassir, A. M. (1998). Stock pricing in Malaysia: corporate financial & investment management. Universiti Putra Malaysia Press.
- Auzairy, N. A., Ahmad, R., & Ho, C. S. F. (2011). Stock Market Deregulation, Macroeconomic Variables and Stock Market Performances. *International Journal of Trade, Economics and Finance*, 2(6), 495–500. https://doi.org/doi:10.7763/ijtef.2011.v2.155
- Aydogan, K., & Gursoy, G. (2000). P/E and PBV Ratios as Predictors of Stock Returns in Emerging Equity Markets. *Emerging Markets Quarterly*, 4(4), 60–67.
- Azizan, N. A., & Sulong, H. (2011). The Preparation towards Asean Exchange Link between Malaysia Stock Market and Asia Countries Macroeconomics Variables Interdependency. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2(5), 127–134.
- Bajaj, M., & Vijh, A. M. (1990). Dividend clienteles and the information content of dividend changes. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 26(2), 193–219.
- Balke, N. S., & Wohar, M. E. (2006). What drives stock prices? Identifying the

- determinants of stock price movements. Southern Economic Journal, 55–78.
- Balkiz, O. (2003). Testing informational market efficiency on Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. In *Malaysian Finance Association 5 th Annual Symposium, Cyberjaya, Malaysia, April.*
- Banz, R. W. (1981). The relationship between return and market value of common stocks. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *9*(1), 3–18.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*(6), 1173.
- Basiruddin, R. (2011). Durham E-Theses The Relationship Between Governance Practices, Audit Quality And Earnings Management: U.K. Evidence Practices, Audit Quality And Earnings Management: U.K. Evidence A Thesis Submitted To Durham University In Fulfilment of The Degree of Doct.
- Basu, S. (1977). Investment performance of common stocks in relation to their price-earnings ratios: A test of the efficient market hypothesis. *The Journal of Finance*, 32(3), 663–682.
- Basu, S. (1983). The relationship between earnings' yield, market value and return for NYSE common stocks: Further evidence. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *12*(1), 129–156.
- Berk, J. B. (1997). Does size really matter? Financial Analysts Journal, 53(5), 12–18.
- Bhandari, L. C. (1988). Debt/equity ratio and expected common stock returns: Empirical evidence. *The Journal of Finance*, 43(2), 507–528.
- Bilson, C. M., Brailsford, T. J., & Hooper, V. J. (2001). Selecting macroeconomic variables as explanatory factors of emerging stock market returns. *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal*, *9*(4), 401–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-538X(01)00020-8
- Blanchard, E. B., & Schwarz, S. P. (1987). Adaptation of a multicomponent treatment for irritable bowel syndrome to a small-group format. *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback*, *12*(1), 63–69.
- Blume, M. E., & Stambaugh, R. F. (1983). Biases in computed returns: An application to the size effect. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *12*(3), 387–404.
- Breusch, T., & Pagan, A. (1979). A Simple Test for Heteroscedasticity and Random Coefficient Variation. *Econometrica*, 47(5), 1287–1294. https://doi.org/10.2307/1911963

- Britten-Jones, M., & Neuberger, A. (2000). Option prices, implied price processes, and stochastic volatility. *The Journal of Finance*, *55*(2), 839–866. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.00228
- Brown, P., Kleidon, A. W., & Marsh, T. A. (1983). New evidence on the nature of size-related anomalies in stock prices. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 12(1), 33–56.
- Bryant, P. S., & Eleswarapu, V. R. (1997). Cross-sectional determinants of New Zealand share market returns. *Accounting & Finance*, *37*(2), 181–205.
- Bulmash, S. B., & Trivoli, G. W. (1991). Time–lagged interactions between stocks prices and selected economic variables. *The Journal of Portfolio Management*, 17(4), 61–67.
- Busenitz, L. W., Fiet, J. O., & Moesel, D. D. (2005). Signaling in Venture Capitalist— New Venture Team Funding Decisions: Does It Indicate Long-Term Venture Outcomes? *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 29(1), 1–12.
- Campbell, J. Y. (1987). Stock returns and the term structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 18(2), 373–399.
- Campbell, J. Y., & Shiller, R. J. (1988). Stock prices, earnings, and expected dividends. *The Journal of Finance*, 43(3), 661–676.
- Capaul, C., Rowley, I., & Sharpe, W. F. (1993). International value and growth stock returns. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 49(1), 27–36.
- Carhart, M. M. (1997). On persistence in mutual fund performance. *The Journal of Finance*, 52(1), 57–82.
- Certo, S. T. (2003). Influencing initial public offering investors with prestige: Signaling with board structures. *Academy of Management Review*, 28(3), 432–446.
- Chambers, N., Sezgin, F. H., & Karaaslan, B. (2013). An Analysis of the Effects of Capital Structure and the Beta Coefficient on Stock Returns: A Case Study of the Istanbul Stock Exchange (ISE)-Manufacturing Industry. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(7).
- Chan, L. K. C., Hamao, Y., & Lakonishok, J. (1991). Fundamentals and stock returns in Japan. *The Journal of Finance*, 46(5), 1739–1764.
- Chang, Y. Y., Faff, R., & Hwang, C.-Y. (2010). Liquidity and stock returns in Japan: New evidence. *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal*, 18(1), 90–115. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pacfin.2009.09.001

- Chen, B., Zhang, S., & Qiao, S. (2009). Hamilton cycles in claw-heavy graphs.

 Discrete Mathematics, 309(8), 2015–2019.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.disc.2008.04.013
- Chen, M. H. (2007). Macro and non-macro explanatory factors of Chinese hotel stock returns. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 26(4), 991–1004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2006.04.002
- Chen, M. H., Kim, W. G., & Kim, H. J. (2005). The impact of macroeconomic and non-macroeconomic forces on hotel stock returns. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 24(2), 243–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2004.06.008
- Chen, N.-F., Roll, R., & Ross, S. A. (1986). Economic forces and the stock market. *Journal of Business*, 383–403.
- Chen, N. (1991). Financial investment opportunities and the macroeconomy. *The Journal of Finance*, 46(2), 529–554.
- Choudhury, V., & Sabherwal, R. (2003). Portfolios of control in outsourced software development projects. *Information Systems Research*, *14*(3), 291–314.
- Chung, T., & Ariff, M. (2016). A test of the linkage among money supply, liquidity and share prices in Asia. *Japan and the World Economy*, *39*, 48–61. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.japwor.2016.07.001
- Cochrane, J. H. (1992). Explaining the variance of price–dividend ratios. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 5(2), 243–280.
- Cohen, R. (2002). The relationship between the equity risk premium, duration and dividend yield. *Wilmott Magazine*, 44(April), 84–97. https://doi.org/10.1002/wilm.42820020122
- Connelly, B. L., Certo, S. T., Ireland, R. D., & Reutzel, C. R. (2011). Signaling theory: A review and assessment. *Journal of Management*, *37*(1), 39–67.
- Corwin, S. A. (2003). The determinants of underpricing for seasoned equity offers. *The Journal of Finance*, *58*(5), 2249–2279.
- Cresswell, J. W., Plano-Clark, V. L., Gutmann, M. L., & Hanson, W. E. (2003). Advanced mixed methods research designs. *Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social and Behavioral Research*, 209–240. Retrieved from http://www.sagepub.com/upm-data/19291_Chapter_7.pdf
- Dadashinasab, M. (2015). Moderating Effect of Dynamic Capability on The Relationship Between Intellectual Capital and Firm Financial Performance in

- Malaysia. Universiti Teknologi Malaysia.
- Dadashinasab, M., & Sofian, S. (2014). The impact of intellectual capital on firm financial performance by moderating of dynamic capability. *Asian Social Science*, *10*(17), 93–100. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v10n17p93
- Dasgupta, S., & Titman, S. (1998). Pricing strategy and financial policy. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 11(4), 705–737.
- Davis, E. P., & Henry, S. G. B. (1994). The use of financial spreads as indicator variables: Evidence for the United Kingdom and Germany. *Staff Papers*, 41(3), 517–525.
- DeFusco, R. A., Johnson, R. R., & Zorn, T. S. (1990). The effect of executive stock option plans on stockholders and bondholders. *The Journal of Finance*, 45(2), 617–627. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2307/2328674
- Denis, D. J., Denis, D. K., & Sarin, A. (1994). The information content of dividend changes: Cash flow signaling, overinvestment, and dividend clienteles. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 29(4), 567–587.
- Diamond, D. W., & Verrecchia, R. E. (1991). Disclosure, liquidity, and the cost of capital. *The Journal of Finance*, 46(4), 1325–1359.
- Docking, D. S., & Koch, P. D. (2005). Sensitivity of investor reaction to market direction and volatility: dividend change announcements. *Journal of Financial Research*, 28(1), 21–40. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6803.2005.00112.x
- Drew, M. E., & Veeraraghavan, M. (2002). A closer look at the size and value premium in emerging markets: Evidence from the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. *Asian Economic Journal*, *16*(4), 337–351.
- Drukker, D. M. (2003). Testing for serial correlation in linear panel-data models. *Stata Journal*, *3*(2), 168–177. https://doi.org/The Stata Journal
- Dudovskiy, J. (2016). The Ultimate Guide to Writing a Dissertation in Business Studies: A step by-step assistance. *Research-Methodology*. *Net*.
- Eades, K. M. (1982). Empirical evidence on dividends as a signal of firm value. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 17(4), 471–500.
- Easley, D., & O'hara, M. (2004). Information and the cost of capital. *The Journal of Finance*, 59(4), 1553–1583.
- Fahmi, S., Geetha, C., & Mohidin, R. (2017). The effect of systematic risk factors on the performance of the Malaysia stock market. *International Conference on*

- Economics, 14(1), 57–68.
- Fama, E. F. (1970). Multiperiod consumption-investment decisions. *The American Economic Review*, 163–174.
- Fama, E. F. (1981). Stock returns, real activity, inflation, and money. *The American Economic Review*, 71(4), 545–565.
- Fama, E. F. (1990). Stock returns, expected returns, and real activity. *The Journal of Finance*, 45(4), 1089–1108.
- Fama, E. F. (1991). Efficient capital markets: II. *The Journal of Finance*, 46(5), 1575–1617.
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (1988). Permanent and temporary components of stock prices. *Journal of Political Economy*, 96(2), 246–273.
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (1993). Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *33*(1), 3–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(93)90023-5
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (1995). Size and book-to-market factors in earnings and returns. *The Journal of Finance*, 50(1), 131–155.
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (2002). Testing Trade-Off and Pecking Order Predictions About Dividends and Debt. *The Review of Financial Studies*, *15*(1), 1–33. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/rfs/15.1.1
- Fama, E. F., & Schwert, G. W. (1977). Asset returns and inflation. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 5(2), 115–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(77)90014-9
- Fischedick, M., Schaeffer, R., & Adedoyin, a. (2011). Mitigation potential and costs. ... Climate Change Mitigation. ..., 791–864. Retrieved from http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Mitigation+P otential+and+Costs#5
- Frank J. Massey, J. (1951). Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test for Goodness of Fit. *Test*, 46(253), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1951.10500769
- Frank, M. Z., & Goyal, V. K. (2003). The effect of market conditions on capital structure adjustment. *Finance Research Letters*, 1(1), 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1544-6123(03)00005-9
- Frazier, P. A., Tix, A. P., & Barron, K. E. (2004). Testing moderator and mediator effects in counseling psychology research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 51(1), 115. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.51.1.115

- Friedman, M. (1983). Monetarism in Rhetoric and in Practice. *Bank of Japan Monetary and Economic Studies*, *1*(2), 1–14.
- Froot, K. a. (1989). Consistent Covariance Matrix Estimation with Cross-Sectional Dependence and Heteroskedasticity in Financial Data. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 24(3), 333–355. https://doi.org/10.2307/2330815
- Garza-Gómez, X., Hodoshima, J., & Kunimura, M. (1998). Does size really matter in Japan? *Financial Analysts Journal*, *54*(6), 22–34.
- Gitman, L. J., & Zutter, C. J. (2012a). *Principles of Managerial Finance. The British Accounting Review*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0890-8389(89)90087-5
- Gitman, L. J., & Zutter, C. J. (2012b). *Principles of Managerial Finance. The British Accounting Review* (Vol. 21). https://doi.org/10.1016/0890-8389(89)90087-5
- Glosten, L. R., & Milgrom, P. R. (1985). Bid, ask and transaction prices in a specialist market with heterogeneously informed traders. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 14(1), 71–100.
- Gompers, P., Ishii, J., & Metrick, A. (2003). Corporate governance and equity prices. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 118(1), 107–156.
- Gordon, M. J. (1963). Optimal investment and financing policy. *The Journal of Finance*, 18(2), 264–272.
- Granger, C. W. J., Huangb, B.-N., & Yang, C.-W. (2000). A bivariate causality between stock prices and exchange rates: evidence from recent Asianflu ★. *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, 40(3), 337–354.
- Gravetter, F. J., & Wallnau, L. B. (2007). Statistics for the behavioral sciences. Belmont, CA: Thompson Learning. Inc.
- Greene, W. W. H. . (2012). *Econometric analysis. Prentice Hall* (Vol. 97). https://doi.org/10.1198/jasa.2002.s458
- Guidi, F., & Gupta, R. (2011). Are ASEAN stock market efficient? Evidence from univariate and multivariate variance ratio tests. *Discussion Papers in Finance*, 201113, 488–502.
- Gujarati, D. N., & Porter, D. (2008). Single-Equation Regression Models Part. In *Basic Econometrics* (p. 21).
- Gunasekarage, A., Pisedtasalasai, A., & Power, D. M. (2004). Macroeconomic influence on the stock market: evidence from an emerging market in South Asia. *Journal of Emerging Market Finance*, *3*(3), 285–304.
- Habibullah, M. S., & Baharumshah, A. Z. (1996). Money, output and stock prices in

- Malaysia: an application of the cointegration tests. *International Economic Journal*, 10(2), 121–130.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., Anderson, R. E., & Tatham, R. L. (2006).
 Multivariate data analysis (Vol. 6): Pearson Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River.
 NJ.
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2011). PLS-SEM: Indeed a Silver Bullet. *The Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 19(2), 139–152. https://doi.org/10.2753/MTP1069-6679190202
- Hall, G., Hutchinson, P., & Michaelas, N. (2000). Industry Effects on the Determinants of Unquoted SMEs' Capital Structure. *International Journal of the Economics of Business*, 7(3), 297–312. https://doi.org/10.1080/13571510050197203
- Hällefors, H. (2013). On the Relationship Between Accounting Earnings and Stock Returns Model Development and Empirical Tests Based on Swedish Data. Stockholm School of Economics,.
- Hardouvelis, G. A. (1987). Macroeconomic information and stock prices. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 39(2), 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/0148-6195(87)90012-9
- Harris, A., & Muijs, D. (2004). *Improving schools through teacher leadership*. McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- Hartono, J. (2004). The Recency Effect of Accounting Information. *Gadjah Mada International Journal of Business*, 6(1).
- Hayes, A. F., & Matthes, J. (2009). Computational procedures for probing interactions in OLS and logistic regression: SPSS and SAS implementations. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(3), 924–936.
- Hernendiastoro, A. (2005). *Pengaruh kinerja perusahaan dan kondisi ekonomi terhadap return saham dengan metode intervalling*. (unpublished doctoral dissertation). Universitas Diponegoro, Indonesia.
- Hjalmarsson, E. (2010). Predicting Global Stock Returns. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 45(01), 49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022109009990469
- Höbarth, L. L. (2006). Modeling the relationship between financial indicators and company performance. An empirical study for US-listed companies. WU Vienna University of Economics and Business.
- Hovakimian, A. (2004). The Role of Target Leverage in Security Issues and Repurchases. *The Journal of Business*, 77(4), 1041–1072.

- https://doi.org/10.1086/422442
- Hovakimian, A., Hovakimian, G., & Tehranian, H. (2004). Determinants of target capital structure: The case of dual debt and equity issues. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 71(3), 517–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-405X(03)00181-8
- Hovakimian, A., Opler, T., Titman, S., The, S., Analysis, Q., Mar, N., ... Titman, S. (2001). The Debt-Equity Choice Published by: Cambridge University Press on behalf of the University of Washington School of Business Administration Stable URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2676195 The Debt-Equity Choice, 36(1), 1–24.
- Huang, R. D., & Kracaw, W. A. (1984). Stock market returns and real activity: a note. *The Journal of Finance*, *39*(1), 267–273.
- Huang, W., Mollick, A. V., & Nguyen, K. H. (2016). U.S. stock markets and the role of real interest rates. *Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, 59, 231–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.qref.2015.07.006
- Hunjra, A. I., Chani, M. I., Javed, S., Naeem, S., & Ijaz, M. S. (2014). Impact of micro economic variables on firms performance. *International Journal of Economics and Empirical Research*, 2(2), 65–73.
- Ibrahim, F., & Abdul Rahman, R. (2003). Speculative Influences in Stock Market: A Case Study of Kuala Lumpur Stock exchange. In *MFA 5th Annual symposium* (pp. 620–638).
- Ibrahim, M. H. (1999). Macroeconomic variables and stock price in Malaysia: An empirical analysis. *Asian Economic Journal*, *13*, 219–231. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8381.00082
- Ibrahim, M. H., & Aziz, H. (2003). Macroeconomic variables and the Malaysian equity market: A view through rolling subsamples. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 30(1), 6–27.
- Ibrahim, M. H., & Aziz, H. (2003). Macroeconomic variables and the Malaysian equity market. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 30(1), 6–27. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443580310455241
- Idris, I., & Bala, H. (2015). Firms 'Specific Characteristics and Stock Market Returns (Evidence from Listed Food and beverages Firms in Nigeria). *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 6(16), 188–201.
- Idris, I., & Bala, H. (2017). Firms 'Specific Characteristics and Stock Market Returns (Evidence from Listed Food and beverages Firms in Nigeria). *International*

- *Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 9(1), 257.
- Islam, S. M. N., & Watanapalachaikul, S. (2003). Time series financial econometrics of the Thai stock market: a multivariate error correction and valuation model. *Global Finance*, 10(5), 90–127.
- Iyiola, R. O., & Adetunji, A. A. (2014). The Effect of Monetary Policy on Consumer Price Index. *International Journal of Innovative Science*, Engineering & Technology, 1(6), 140–146.
- Janor, H., Halid, N., & Rahman, A. A. (2005). Stock market and economic activity in Malaysia. *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*, *4*, 116–123.
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, *33*(7), 14–26.
- Kazerooni, E. A. (2001). Population and sample. *American Journal of Roentgenology*, 177(5), 993–999.
- Keim, D. B. (1985). Dividend yields and stock returns: Implications of abnormal January returns. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *14*(3), 473–489.
- Keim, D. B., & Stambaugh, R. F. (1986). Predicting returns in the stock and bond markets. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 17(2), 357–390.
- Kendall, M. G., & Hill, A. B. (1953). The analysis of economic time-series-part i: Prices. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series A (General)*, 116(1), 11–34.
- Keynes, J. M. (1936). The general theory of money, interest and employment. Reprinted in The Collected Writings of John Maynard Keynes, 7.
- Keynes, J. M. (1937). Alternative theories of the rate of interest. *The Economic Journal*, 47(186), 241–252.
- Kheradyar, S., Ibrahim, I., & Nor, F. M. (2011). Stock return predictability with financial ratios. *International Journal of Trade, Economics and Finance*, 2(5), 391. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.7763/ijtef.2011.v2.137
- Kincheloe, J. L., McLaren, P., & Steinberg, S. R. (2011). Critical pedagogy and qualitative research. *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research*, 163–177.
- Kirmani, A., & Rao, A. R. (2000). No pain, no gain: A critical review of the literature on signaling unobservable product quality. *Journal of Marketing*, 64(2), 66–79.
- Kitchenham, B., & Pfleeger, S. L. (2002). Principles of survey research part 4: questionnaire evaluation. *ACM SIGSOFT Software Engineering Notes*, 27(3), 20. https://doi.org/10.1145/638574.638580

- Korajczyk, R. A., & Levy, A. (2003). Capital structure choice: Macroeconomic conditions and financial constraints. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 68(1), 75–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-405X(02)00249-0
- Kothari, S. P., Lewellen, J., & Warner, J. B. (2006). Stock returns, aggregate earnings surprises, and behavioral finance. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 79(3), 537–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2004.06.016
- Kothari, S. P., & Shanken, J. (1997). Book-to-market, dividend yield, and expected market returns: A time-series analysis. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 44(2), 169–203.
- Kouser, R., Awan, A., Gul-e-Rana, & Shahzad, F. A. (2011). Firm size, leverage and profitability: Overriding impact of accounting information system. *Business and Management Review*, *I*(10), 58–64. Retrieved from http://www.businessjournalz.org/bmr
- Kusumo, R. M., & SITI, M. (2011). Analisis Pengaruh Rasio Keuangan terhadap Return saham pada perusahaan non Bank LQ 45. Universitas Diponegoro.
- Kwan, C. C. Y. (1981). Efficient market tests of the informational content of dividend announcements: critique and extension. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 16(2), 193–206.
- Kwon, C. S., & Shin, T. S. (1999). Cointegration and causality between macroeconomic variables and stock market returns. *Global Finance Journal*, 10(1), 71–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1044-0283(99)00006-X
- Kyereboah-Coleman, A., & Agyire-Tettey, K. F. (2008). Impact of macroeconomic indicators on stock market performance: The case of the Ghana Stock Exchange. *The Journal of Risk Finance*, *9*(4), 365–378.
- Lang, L. H. P., & Litzenberger, R. H. (1989). Dividend announcements: Cash flow signalling vs. free cash flow hypothesis? *Journal of Financial Economics*, 24(1), 181–191.
- Lau, S. T., Lee, C. T., & McInish, T. H. (2002). Stock returns and beta, firms size, E/P, CF/P, book-to-market, and sales growth: Evidence from Singapore and Malaysia. *Journal of Multinational Financial Management*, 12(3), 207–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1042-444X(01)00051-2
- Lee, C., & Chew-Ging, L. (2017). The Evolution of Development Planning in Malaysia. *Journal of Southeast Asian Economies*, 34(3), 436–461. https://doi.org/10.1355/ae34-3b

- Lee, C., & Lee, W. H. (2008). Can financial ratios predict the Malaysian stock return?
- Lee, C., & Swaminathan, B. (2000). Price momentum and trading volume. *The Journal of Finance*, 55(5), 2017–2069.
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2001). Practical research: Planning and research. *Upper Saddle*.
- Lester, R. H., Certo, S. T., Dalton, C. M., Dalton, D. R., & Cannella, A. A. (2006). Initial public offering investor valuations: An examination of top management team prestige and environmental uncertainty. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 44(1), 1–26.
- Levine, R., & Zervos, S. (1998). Capital Control Liberalization and Stock Market Development. *World Development*, 26(7), 1169–1183. Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=632643
- Lewellen, J. (2004). Predicting returns with financial ratios. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 74(2), 209–235.
- Liew, K., WLR, K., KP, L., & L, E. (2003). Performance of Time series Forecasting models in Predicting the movements of Kuala Lumpur Composite Index. In *MFA* 5th Annual symposium (pp. 569–576).
- Lilliefors, H. W. (1967). On the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test for Normality whit Mean and Variance unkown. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 62(318), 399–402. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1967.10482916
- Lim, L. K. (2009). Convergence and interdependence between ASEAN-5 stock markets. *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation*, 79(9), 2957–2966. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matcom.2008.12.004
- Lintner, J. (1963). The cost of capital and optimal financing of corporate growth. *The Journal of Finance*, 18(2), 292–310.
- Litzenberger, R. H., & Ramaswamy, K. (1982). The Effects of Dividends on Common Stock Prices Tax Effects or Information Effects? *The Journal of Finance*, *37*(2), 429–443.
- Malin, M., & Veeraraghavan, M. (2004). On the robustness of the Fama and French multifactor model: evidence from France, Germany, and the United Kingdom. *International Journal of Business and Economics*, 3(2), 155.
- Malkiel, B. G. (1973). A Random Walk Down Wall Street [By] Burton G. Malkiel. Norton.
- Mankiw, N. G., & Shapiro, M. D. (1986). Do we reject too often?: Small sample

- properties of tests of rational expectations models. *Economics Letters*, 20(2), 139–145.
- Mansor, M. I., & Subramaniam, V. (1992). The effects of dividends and earnings announcements on stock prices in the Malaysian stock market. *Malaysian Journal of Economic Studies*, 29(1), 35–49.
- Maroney, N., & Protopapadakis, A. (2002). The book-to-market and size effects in a general asset pricing model: Evidence from seven national markets. *Review of Finance*, 6(2), 189–221.
- Martani, D., & Khairurizka, R. (2009). The effect of financial ratios, firm size, and cash flow from operating activities in the interim report to the stock return. *Chinese Business Review*, 8(6), 44.
- Maysami, R. C., & Koh, T. S. (2000). A vector error correction model of the Singapore stock market. *International Review of Economics and Finance*, *9*(1), 79–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1059-0560(99)00042-8
- Maysami, R. C., & Sim, H. H. (2001). An empirical investigation of the dynamic relations between macroeconomic factors and the stock markets of Malaysia and Thailand. *Jurnal Pengurusan*, 20.
- McNally, D. (1981). Staple theory as commodity fetishism: Marx, Innis and Canadian political economy. *Studies in Political Economy*, *6*(1), 35–63.
- Megginson, W. L., Nash, R. C., Netter, J. M., & Schwartz, A. L. (2000). The long-run return to investors in share issue privatization. *Financial Management*, 29(1), 67–77. https://doi.org/10.2307/3666362
- Miller, M. H., & Modigliani, F. (1961). Dividend policy, growth, and the valuation of shares. *The Journal of Business*, *34*(4), 411–433.
- Mills, E. S., & MacKinnon, J. (1973). Notes on the new urban economics. *The Bell Journal of Economics and Management Science*, 593–601.
- Mirfakhr-Al-Dini, S. H., Dehavi, H. D., Zarezadeh, E., Armesh, H., Manafi, M., & Zraezadehand, S. (2011). Fitting the relationship between financial variables and stock price through fuzzy regression case study: Iran Khodro Company. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2(11).
- Modigliani, F., & Miller, M. H. (1958). The cost of capital, corporation finance and the theory of investment. *The American Economic Review*, 48(3), 261–297.

- Moustafa, M. (2004). Testing the weak-form efficiency of the United Arab Emirates stock market. *International Journal of Business*, *9*(3). Retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=551102
- Mugableh, M. I. (2015). Aggregate economic forces and Malaysian equity market: Equilibrium time-series approach. *International Foundation for Research and Development (IFRD)*, 192.
- Mukherjee, T. K., & Naka, A. (1995). Dynamic relations between macroeconomic variables and the Japanese stock market: an application of a vector error correction model. *Journal of Financial Research*, *18*(2), 223–237. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6803.1995.tb00563.x
- Myers, S. C. (1984). The capital structure puzzle. *The Journal of Finance*, 39(3), 574–592.
- Nelson, C. R., & Kim, M. J. (1993). Predictable stock returns: The role of small sample bias. *The Journal of Finance*, 48(2), 641–661.
- Neoh, S. K. (1989). An Empirical Test of Dow Theory on the Malaysian Stock Market. In *Inaugural International Conference on Asian pacific Financial Markets, November* (pp. 16–18).
- Offermann, P., Levina, O., Schönherr, M., & Bub, U. (2009). Outline of a design science research process. In *Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Design Science Research in Information Systems and Technology* (p. 7). ACM.
- Omran, M. M. (2003). Time Series Analysis of the Impact of Real Interest Rates on Stock Market Activity and Liquidity in Egypt: Co-integration and Error Correction Model Approach. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.420248
- Opong, K., & Siganos, A. (2013). Compositional changes in the FTSE100 index from the standpoint of an arbitrageur. *Journal of Asset Management*, *14*(2), 120–132.
- Ouma, W. N., & Muriu, P. (2014). the Impact of Macroeconomic Variables on Stock Market Returns in Kenya. *International Journal of Business and Commerce Www.Ijbcnet.Com International Journal of Business and Commerce*, 3(311), 1–31. Retrieved from http://www.ijbcnet.com/3-11/IJBC-14-31001.pdf
- Pan, M.-S., Fok, R. C.-W., & Liu, Y. A. (2007). Dynamic linkages between exchange rates and stock prices: Evidence from East Asian markets. *International Review of Economics & Finance*, 16(4), 503–520.

- Parrino, R., Kidwell, D. S., & Bates, T. (2011). Fundamentals of corporate finance. John Wiley & Sons.
- Patel, V., & Michayluk, D. (2016). Return predictability following different drivers of large price changes. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, 45, 202–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2016.03.004
- Pearce, D. K., & Roley, V. V. (1988). Firm characteristics, unanticipated inflation, and stock returns. *The Journal of Finance*, 43(4), 965–981.
- Peiró, A. (2016). Stock prices and macroeconomic factors: Some European evidence. *International Review of Economics & Finance*, 41, 287–294. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iref.2015.08.004
- Peterson, P. P., & Fabozzi, F. J. (1999). *Analysis of financial statements* (Vol. 54). John Wiley & Sons.
- Pinfold, J. F., Wilson, W. R., & Li, Q. (2001). Book-to-market and size as determinants of returns in small illiquid markets: the New Zealand case. *Financial Services Review*, 10(1), 291–302.
- Pontiff, J., & Schall, L. D. (1998). Book-to-market ratios as predictors of market returns. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 49(2), 141–160.
- Poterba, J. M. (1986). The market valuation of cash dividends: The Citizens Utilities case reconsidered. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 15(3), 395–405.
- Poterba, J. M., & Summers, L. H. (1983). Dividend taxes, corporate investment, and 'Q.' *Journal of Public Economics*, 22(2), 135–167.
- Poterba, J. M., & Summers, L. H. (1984). *The economic effects of dividend taxation*. National Bureau of Economic Research Cambridge, Mass., USA.
- Prins, N. (2014). All the presidents' bankers: The hidden alliances that drive American power. Hachette UK.
- Rahman, A. A., Sidek, N. Z. M., & Tafri, F. H. (2009). Macroeconomic determinants of Malaysian stock market. *African Journal of Business Management*, *3*(3), 95–106.
- Rahmani, A., Sheri, S., & Tajvidi, E. (2006). Accounting Variables, Market Variables and Stock Return in Emerging Markets: Case of Iran.
- Rajan, R. G., & Zingales, L. (1995). What Do We Know about Capital Structure? Some Evidence from International Data What Do We Know about Capital Structure? Some Evidence from International Data. *The Journal of Finance*, 50(5), 1421–1460. https://doi.org/10.2307/2329322

- Ramadan, I. Z. (2015). An Empirical Investigation of the Trade-Off Theory: Evidence from Jordan, 8(4), 19–25. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v8n4p19
- Ray, S. (2012). Testing granger causal relationship between macroeconomic variables and stock price behaviour: evidence from India. *Advances in Applied Economics and Finance*, *3*(1), 470–481.
- Razali, N. M., & Wah, Y. B. (2011). Power comparisons of Shapiro-Wilk, Kolmogorov-Smirnov, Lilliefors and Anderson-Darling tests. *Journal of Statistical Modeling and Analytics*, 2(1), 21–33. https://doi.org/doi:10.1515/bile-2015-0008
- Reinganum, M. R. (1981). Misspecification of capital asset pricing: Empirical anomalies based on earnings' yields and market values. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 9(1), 19–46.
- Rogalski, R. J., & Vinso, J. D. (1977). Stock Return, Money Supply and The Direction of Causality. *The Journal of Finance*, 32(4), 1017–1030. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1977.tb03306.x
- Rosenberg, B., Reid, K., & Lanstein, R. (1985). Persuasive evidence of market inefficiency. *The Journal of Portfolio Management*, 11(3), 9–16.
- Ross, S. A., Westerfield, R., Jaffe, J. F., & Roberts, G. S. (2002). *Corporate finance* (Vol. 7). McGraw-Hill/Irwin New York.
- Rozeff, S., Rozeff, M. S., & Kinney, W. R. (1976). Capital market eeasonality: returns. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *3*(4), 379–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(76)90028-3
- Saleem, Q., & Rehman, R. U. (2011). Impacts of liquidity ratios on profitability (Case of oil and gas companies of Pakistan). *Interdisciplinary Journal of Research in Business*, *I*(July), 95–98.
- Samadi, S., Bayani, O., & Ghalandari, M. (2012). The Relationship between Macroeconomic Variables and Stock Returns in the Tehran Stock Exchange. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 2(6), 559–573.
- Samarakoon, L. P. (2009). An Empirical Analysis of the Relationship between Fundamentals and Stock Returns in Sri Lanka, 1998(November).

- Sari, L. A., & Hutagaol, Y. R. I. (2009). Debt to equity ratio, degree of operating leverage stock beta and stock returns of food and beverages companies on the Indonesian stock exchange. *Journal of Applied Finance and Accounting*, 2(1), 1-12.
- Seng, D. (2012). Fundamental Analysis and the Prediction of Earnings. *International Journal of Business & Management*, 7(3), 32–46. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v7n3p32
- Senthilkumar, G. (2009). Behaviour of Stock Return in Size and Market-to-Book Ratio--Evidence from Selected Indian Industries. *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, 33(33), 142–153. https://doi.org/http://www.internationalresearchjournaloffinanceandeconomics.c om/irjfe_issues.htm
- Shabib-ul-hasan, S., & Muddassir, M. (2015). Stock Returns Indicators: Debt to Equity, Book to Market, Firm Size and Sales to Price.
- Shadkam Aga, B., Mogaddam, V. F., & Samadiyan, B. (2013). Relationship between liquidity and stock returns in companies in Tehran Stock Exchange. *Applied Mathematics in Engineering, Management and Technology*, 1(4), 278–285. Retrieved from www.amiemt-journal.com
- Shafana, M., Rimziya, F. A., & Jariya, I. A. (2013). Relationship between Stock Returns and Firm Size, and Book-To-Market Equity: Empirical Evidence from Selected Companies Listed on Milanka Price Index in Colombo Stock Exchange.

 Journal of Emerging Trends in Economics and Management Sciences, 4(2), 217–225. Retrieved from http://jetems.scholarlinkresearch.org/articles/Relationship between Stock.pdf
- Sieng, C. C., & Leng, G. K. (2005). Linkages of economic activity, stock price and monetary policy: the case of Malaysia. *The Asia Pacific Journal of Economics and Business*, 9(1), 48–61.
- Singh, T., Mehta, S., & Varsha, M. S. (2011). Macroeconomic factors and stock returns: Evidence from Taiwan. *Journal of Economics and International Finance*, 2(4), 217–227.
- Spence, M. (1973). Job market signaling. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 87(3), 355–374.
- Spence, M. (2002). Signaling in retrospect and the informational structure of markets. *The American Economic Review*, 92(3), 434–459.

- Stambaugh, R. F. (1999). Predictive regressions. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 54(3), 375–421.
- Stefano, K. (2015). The Impact of Financial Ratio toward Stock Return of Property Industry in Indonesia. *IBuss Management*, *3*(2), 222–231.
- Stephen, A. R. (1977). The determination of financial structure: The incentive-signaling approach. *Bell Journal of Economics*, 8(1), 23–40.
- Striphas, T. (2009). *The late age of print: Everyday book culture from consumerism to control.* Columbia University Press.
- Suazo, M. M., Martínez, P. G., & Sandoval, R. (2009). Creating psychological and legal contracts through human resource practices: A signaling theory perspective. *Human Resource Management Review*, 19(2), 154–166.
- Sullivan, A. (2003). Economics: Principles in action.
- Surow, F. A. L. I. (2014). the Effects of Micro Economic Variables on the Financial.
- Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (2003). Issues and dilemmas in teaching research methods courses in social and behavioural sciences: US perspective. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 6(1), 61–77.
- Teng, K. T., Yen, S. H., & Chua, S. Y. (2013). The synchronisation of ASEAN-5 stock markets with the growth rate cycles of selected emerging and developed economies. *Margin: The Journal of Applied Economic Research*, 7(1), 1–28.
- Thong, L., & Kok, K. (2003). Strategies of portfolio Formation in the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. In *MFA 5th Annual Sympossium* (pp. 671–685).
- Thornton, D. (2000). Lifting the Veil of Secrecy from Monetary Policy: Evidence from the Fed's Early Discount Rate Policy. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 32(2), 155–167.
- Timmermann, A. (1995). Cointegration tests of present value models with a time-varying discount factor. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 10(1), 17–31.
- Titman, S., & Wessels, R. (1988). The Determinants of Capital Structure Choice. *The Journal of Finance*, 43(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1988.tb02585.x
- Tracy, J. A., & Tracy, T. (2004). *How to Manage Profit and Cash Flow: Mining the Numbers for Gold*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Trochim, W. M. (2000). The research methods knowledge base, Retrieved July 11, 2001.

- Tudor, C., & FIBE–ASE, B. (2006). Testing for seasonal anomalies in the Romanian Stock Market. *Romanian Economic Journal*, *21*, 71–79.
- Ulupui, I. G. K. A. (2007). Analisis Pengaruh Rasio Likuiditas, Leverage, Aktivitas, Dan Profitabilitas Terhadap Return Saham (Studi Pada Perusahaan Makanan Dan Minuman Dengan Kategori Industri Barang Konsumsi Di Bej). *Jurnal Ilmiah Akuntansi Dan Bisnis*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Urbanovský, T. (2016). Interconnection of Interest Rate, Price Level, Money Supply and Real GDP: The Case of the Czech Republic. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 220, 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.529
- Uwubanmwen, A. E., & Obayagbona, J. (2012). Company Fundamentals and Returns in the Nigerian Stock Market. *Journal of Research in National Development*, 10(2), 154–159.
- Vejzagic, M., & Zarafat, H. (2013). Relationship Between Macroeconomic Variables and Stock Market Index: Co-Integration Evidence From Ftse Bursa Malaysia Hijrah Shariah Index. *Asian Journal of Management Sciences and Education*, 2(4), 94–108.
- Watkins, M. H. (1963). A staple theory of economic growth. *Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science/Revue Canadienne de Economiques et Science Politique*, 29(2), 141–158.
- Wei, K. C. J., & Wong, K. M. (1992). Tests of inflation and industry portfolio stock returns. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 44(1), 77–94.
- Welch, I. (2004). Capital structure and stock returns. *Journal of Political Economy*, 112(1), 106–131.
- Wongbangpo, P., & Sharma, S. C. (2002). Stock market and macroeconomic fundamental dynamic interactions: ASEAN-5 countries. *Journal of Asian Economics*, 13(1), 27–51.
- Wooldridge, J. M. (2002). Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data. *Booksgooglecom*, 58(2), 752. https://doi.org/10.1515/humr.2003.021
- Woolridge, J. R. (1982). The information content of dividend changes. *Journal of Financial Research*, 5(3), 237–247.
- Yong, O., Sapian, R., Hamid, M., & Yaakob, M. (2003). Perubahan Dividen and Prestasi Saham di Papan Kedua Bursa Saham Kuala Lumpur. In *MFA 5th Annual symposium* (pp. 577–585).

- Yoon, P. S., & Starks, L. T. (1995). Signaling, investment opportunities, and dividend announcements. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 8(4), 995–1018.
- Zambonelli, F., Jennings, N. R., & Wooldridge, M. (2003). Developing multiagent systems: The Gaia methodology. *ACM Transactions on Software Engineering and Methodology (TOSEM)*, 12(3), 317–370.
- Zeytinoğlu, E., Akarim, Y. D., & Çelik, S. (2012). The impact of market-based ratios on stock returns: The evidence from insurance sector in Turkey. *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, 84, 19.